2005

Utah v. William Thomas Greene : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e)(2005). The Honorable Judge, Timothy R. Hanson, Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah entered judgment of conviction for Theft By Deception, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405(2003) on September 16, 2005. A copy of the judgment is in Addendum A.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW,
PRESERVATION**

Issue 1: Whether the trial court erred when it ruled that receiving a check for \$1080.00 that is dishonored due to insufficient funds meets the element of Utah Code Annotated Section 76-6-405(2003), that the defendant obtain property with a value exceeding \$1,000.00?

Standard of Review: Matters of statutory interpretation are questions of law an appellate court reviews for correctness. State v. Schofield, 2002 UT 132, ¶ 6, 63 P.3d 667. “[T]he proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law. Therefore, when

reviewing an order . . . involving the interpretation of a statute, we accord no deference to the legal conclusions of the district court but review them for correctness.” State v. Mast, 2001 UT App 402, ¶ 7, 40 P.3d 1143 (internal citations omitted).

Preservation: This issue is preserved. See R. 206:248; R.207; R.136-142.

TEXT OF RELEVANT STATUTE

The text of the following statute is in Addendum B:

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (2003)¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 26, 2004 Mr. Greene was charged by information with one count of Theft By Receiving Stolen Property, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-408 (2003) and one count of Theft By Deception, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (2003). R.2. Following a jury trial, on April 6, 2005, Mr. Greene was acquitted of count one, but found guilty of the Theft By Deception Count. R. 131-132; R. 206: 245-246.

During the trial, it was established through witness testimony that on the morning of March 22, 2004, Sanford Osborn arrived at his employment at Water and Power Technologies, a water purification company. R.206:13-14. Upon arrival, Mr. Osborn noticed that two bundles, about 35 to 45 pieces, of three inch schedule forty pipe were missing from a storing area in the parking lot. Id. at 17-19. Mr. Osborn called and reported the missing pipe to the police and then called around scrap yards in order to locate the missing pieces. Id. at 19-20. Mr. Osborn testified that he called Luceny Corporation and spoke with the owner named Billy Cheung. Id. at 23. Mr. Cheung had just purchased some pipe and described it to Mr. Osborn. Id. Mr. Osborn responded to Luceny Corporation where he found “a whole bunch of 3-inch Schedule 40 pipe.” Id. at 26. The pipe was not the same length as the pipe taken from Water and Power

¹ A copy of 2005 rule added as addendum B. No changes have been made.

Technologies. Id. at 38. Mr. Osborn testified that the pipe at Luceny Corporation was cut into all different sizes. Id. However, Mr. Osborn testified that he could identify the pipe as that missing from Water and Power Technologies based off the condition it was in. Id. at 51.

Mr. Cheung testified that on the morning of March 22, 2004, Mr. Greene was at Mr. Cheung's company, Lucency Corporation, waiting in a pick up truck. Id. at 63. Mr. Cheung testified that Mr. Greene, a regular customer, had about thirty pieces of stainless pipe in the back of his truck to sell to the corporation as scrap. R. 60,64-65. Mr. Cheung weighed the pipe and paid Mr. Greene 45 cents per pound for the pipes, which was just "over a thousand dollars." Id. at 69. Mr. Cheung testified that Mr. Greene stated he had purchased the pipe from a guy. Id. at 67. Mr. Cheung issued Mr. Greene a check for a little over a thousand dollars and then Mr. Greene left. Id. at 69. Later that day, Mr. Osborn contacted Mr. Cheung about the missing pipe. Id.

Immediately upon leaving Luceny Corporation, Mr. Greene went to redeem the check at the bank but payment was denied for insufficient funds. Id. at 74, 86, 121, 136. Later, but the state did not show when, Luceny Corporation ordered that the bank stop payment on the check. Id. at 87. Thus, Mr. Greene never received the payment from Luceny Corporation in the value of a little over one thousand dollars. Id. at 161. The state also failed to prove whether Mr. Cheung alleviated the deficiency at the bank in order to cover the check. Id. at 74, 87-88. It was also not shown why the account had insufficient funds to pay the check. Id. Following the trial, the jury found Mr. Greene guilty of Theft by Deception. Id. at 245-246. At this time, defense counsel made an oral motion to set aside the judgment on the basis that Mr. Greene never obtained property with a value of \$ 1,000.00 as required by the statute because the check was never honored. Id. at 248. The trial judge allowed defense counsel time in order to brief the issue. Id.

On June 1, 2005, the trial court heard arguments on the Motion to Set Aside Verdict. R.207. Defense counsel argued that the general rule under commercial law and

the UCC is that a check does not contain value until it has been honored. Id. at 3. The trial court questioned whether that meant that “any time you take a check then you haven’t committed a crime unless you cash it.” Id. at 5. In response, defense counsel noted that rather than absolving all criminal responsibility, when no value is obtained from the check, then the proper crime for which a defendant should be charged is an attempt crime. Id. The trial court assumed that Luceny Corporation’s account was deficient because of a simple accounting error and that they could and would have made the check good. Id. at 20. The trial court also acknowledged that the check was shown not to be worth the face value on the check, but articulated it had some intrinsic value. Id. at 10. The trial court denied Mr. Greene’s motion and ruled that the crime was complete when Mr. Greene gave the stolen property to the victim and the victim gave him a check. Id. at 23.

On September 16, 2005, the trial court sentenced Mr. Greene to an indeterminate term of not to exceed five years in the Utah State Prison, with the prison term suspended. R. 186. The trial court placed Mr. Greene on probation for 36 months and ordered a fine of \$ 950.00. R. 187. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion when it ruled that the check had a value of \$1,080.00 when the check was dishonored due to insufficient funds. Every element of the crime charged must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. To affirm the jury’s verdict, Utah courts must be sure the state has introduced evidence sufficient to support *all* elements of the charged crime. Utah courts will not make speculative leaps across gaps in the evidence. The state did not sufficiently prove the value of the check as required by statute in order to grade this offense as a third degree felony. Mr. Greene had rebutted the prima facie evidence that the check was worth the face value of \$ 1,080.00 by presenting it to the drawer bank to redeem payment, but payment was denied due to insufficient funds. Furthermore, Luceny Corporation was not consequently liable for any amount on the check. Thus, the defendant obtained no value for the dishonored check.

Utah courts determine value based on market place standards and, in this case, Mr. Greene had shown that when he presented his check for payment in the marketplace, the check was worthless. The state did not present any evidence, despite the face value of the check to show the actual value of the check. The trial court acknowledged that the check was not worth the face value, but ruled that it had some intrinsic value. Moreover, the trial court assumed facts not found in the record, nor proved by the state, to determine that the insufficient funds were the result of a mere accounting error and would have been corrected in order for the check to be cashed. If the law will not sustain the conviction based on the facts, the conviction must be reversed. The facts of this case do not prove that Mr. Greene obtained a check that is or exceeds \$ 1,000.00 but is less than \$ 5,000.00, but rather show that the check was worthless. The state presented insufficient evidence to show the actual value of the check, if any. Thus, the facts of this case do not support the felony conviction, but support an attempt charge. Consequently, the conviction must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE STATE PROVED ALL THE ELEMENTS OF THIRD DEGREE FELONY THEFT BY DECEPTION BECAUSE THE CHECK FOR \$ 1,080.00 WAS DISHONORED DUE TO INSUFFICIENT FUNDS, THUS MR. GREENE DID NOT OBTAIN PROPERTY FOR \$ 1,000.00.

Mr. Greene was convicted of Theft By Deception, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (2003). The theft charge was graded at a third degree felony based on “the value of the property . . . is or exceeds \$ 1,000.00 but is less than \$ 5,000.00.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(b)(i)(2003). The trial court erred when it found that the state had proved each element of the statute in order to support a third degree felony conviction. “[T]he proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law. Therefore, when reviewing an order . . . involving the interpretation of a statute, we accord

no deference to the legal conclusions of the district court but review them for correctness.” State v. Mast, 2001 UT App 402, ¶ 7, 40 P.3d 1143 (internal citations omitted). The evidence at trial was insufficient to establish that he obtained property for \$ 1,000.00 as required by the statute.

“We reverse the jury’s verdict in a criminal case when we conclude as a matter of law that the evidence was insufficient to warrant conviction.” *State v. Smith*, 927 P.2d 649, 651 (Utah Ct. App. 1996)(quoting *State v. Harman*, 767 P.2d 567, 568 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)). The defendant must overcome a heavy burden in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence for a jury verdict. *See id.*; *State v. Vessey*, 967 P.2d 960, 966 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). “We view the evidence in a light most favorable to the jury verdict,” *State v. Bradley*, 752 P.2d 874, 876 (Utah 1985), and “will reverse only if the evidence is so ‘inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime.’” *Smith*, 927 P.2d at 651 (quoting *Harman*, 767 P.2d at 568)(quoting *State v. Petree*, 659 P.2d 443, 444 (Utah 1983))). However, though the burden is high, it is not impossible. *See id.* “We will not make speculative leaps across gaps in the evidence.” *Id.* (internal quotations and alterations omitted). “Every element of the crime charged must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Harman*, 767 P.2d at 568. “To affirm the jury’s verdict, we must be sure the State has introduced evidence sufficient to support all elements of the charged crime.” *Smith*, 927 P.2d at 651.

State v. Gonzalez, 2000 UT App 136, ¶ 10, 2 P.3d 954; see also State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 18, 10 P.3d 346; State v. Lealeae, 1999 UT App 368, ¶ 17, 993 P.2d 232.

To succeed on a claim of insufficient evidence, the defendant “must marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict.” State v. Boyd, 2001 UT 30, ¶ 13, 25 P.3d 985 (quoting State v. Hopkins, 1999 UT 98, ¶ 14, 989 P.2d 1065; Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch., 817 P.2d 789, 799 (Utah 1991)). If the verdict “is based solely on inferences that give rise to only remote or speculative possibilities of guilt,” it is not legally valid. State v. Brown, 948 P.2d 337, 344 (Utah 1997) (quoting State v. Workman, 852 P.2d 981, 985 (Utah 1993)). Likewise, if the law will not sustain the conviction based

on the facts, the conviction must be reversed. State v. Merila, 966 P.2d 270, 272 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). With that in mind, the function of a reviewing court is to ensure “that there is sufficient competent evidence as to each element of the charge to enable a jury to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant committed the crime.” Id. at 272 (internal emphasis omitted)(quoting State v. James, 819 P.2d 781, 784 (Utah 1981); State v. Warden, 813 P.2d 1146, 1150 (Utah 1991)).

As set forth below, in this matter the state failed to present evidence sufficient to establish that Mr. Greene obtained property in the amount of \$ 1, 000.00 in order to sustain the third-degree felony. The conviction must be reversed.

A. THE JURY FOUND THAT MR. GREENE OBTAINED A CHECK IN THE AMOUNT OF \$ 1080.00 WHICH WAS DISHONORED DUE TO INSUFFICIENT FUNDS, YET THE STATE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE VALUE OF THE DISHONORED CHECK WAS \$ 1,000.00 OR MORE.

To establish theft by deception, the state was required to prove the following:

(1) A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises control over property of another by deception and with a purpose to deprive him thereof.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (2003). In addition, in order for the theft offense to be graded as a third degree felony, the state is required to prove that “the value of the property or services is or exceeds \$ 1,000.00 but is less than \$ 5,000.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(b)(i)(2003). While Mr. Greene was paid a check in the amount of \$ 1,080.00 in this case, it was dishonored due to insufficient funds at the bank, thus Mr. Greene did not obtain property with a value of \$ 1,000.00 or more. If the law will not sustain the conviction based on the facts, the conviction must be reversed. State v. Merila, 966 P.2d 270, 272 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

The question of how the state is to establish value on a check *that is dishonored because of insufficient funds* is an issue of first impression to Utah courts. While the Utah Supreme Court held that the face value of a check, “whether endorsed or not, is prima

facie evidence of the value that determines the degree and penalty relevant in a theft case” in State v. Pacheco, 636 P.2d 489, 490 (Utah 1981), that case is distinguishable from Mr. Greene’s case. In Pacheco, the defendant stole two unendorsed checks with an aggregate face value of \$ 405.76. Id. The defendant was convicted of theft and appealed, arguing that because the checks were unendorsed they were worthless and thus his charge should be reduced. Id. The defendant introduced testimony from a bank employee who testified that the checks were worthless and had no “market value” unless endorsed. Id. The Utah Supreme Court held that in theft cases, value is to be determined by the “market value” of the stolen property. Id. The Court cited to a Colorado case, People v. Marques, 520 P.2d 113 (Colo. 1974) in order to support its holding:

The prima facie value of a check is its *face value*. This rule comports with the general rule that value in a theft case is market value. . .Where a check is the thing to be valued, *the willing buyer is normally the drawer bank [who] will pay the face amount of the instrument, or the drawer will make good the instrument* . . .The value of the thing lost is not limited to what the thief could realize on the instrument.

Id. (emphasis in original and emphasis added). Such a presumption operates in the law when, as in Pacheco, the defendant could not prove or show that the market value of the checks were a different value from the face value beyond mere speculation or in cases in which the defendant in fact obtained the face value amount of the check. See State v. Burnett, 712 P.2d 260, 262 (Utah 1985).

However, in this case, Mr. Greene had actually presented the check to the “willing buyer . . .normally the drawer bank,” which rather than paid the “face amount of the instrument,” dishonored the check due to insufficient funds. Id. Moreover, the drawer had issued a stop payment on the check was not obligated to make good the instrument. Mr. Greene did not steal unendorsed checks, rather he was paid for selling pipe by Luceny Corporation with a check. At the time the check was made out and delivered to Mr.

Greene, it was worthless because there were insufficient funds in the bank in order to pay the face value of the check. Thus, this case presents a different situation than the situation in Pacheco in which there is a presumption that the face value of the check is the value thereof. In this case, Mr. Greene had overcome the legal presumption that the prima facie value of the check was the face value, because Mr. Greene had indeed established that the market value of the check was worthless when he presented it to the “willing buyer” and the drawer in the market value analysis and it was dishonored due to insufficient funds. In addition, the drawer was not obligated to make the good the instrument.

While the issue of what the value of a check that is dishonored due to insufficient funds has not been resolved in Utah, other jurisdictions and commercial law support that such a check is worthless. The state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the value of a check that has been dishonored due to insufficient funds, rather than relying on the face value of the check. For instance, in State v. Garza, 487 N.W.2d 551 (Neb. 1992)(superseded on other grounds in State v. Paul, 1996 Neb. App. LEXIS 77), the Nebraska Supreme Court held that “[a]lthough value is not an element of theft, the State must prove, by *evidence beyond a reasonable doubt*, the value of the property that is the subject of the theft charge.” *Id.* at 556 (emphasis added). Nebraska courts also use the “market value” analysis to determine value, just as Utah does in theft cases. *Id.* In Garza, the state attempted to prove value by presenting the face value of the price tags. *Id.* at 557. The Nebraska Supreme Court held that this was an insufficient means to establish value because price indicates an acceptable payment for an article of sale, while value is the price actually obtainable of the article offered for sale in the market. *Id.*

Moreover, Nebraska courts have held the standard announced in Garza to apply to value checks. In State v. Long, 516 N.W.2d 273 (Neb. Ct. App. 1994), the Nebraska Court of Appeals cited to the Utah Pacheco case favorably and held that the face value of a check operates as a presumption of the market place value of the check. *Id.* at 276. However, the court noted that the state complied with the mandates of Garza in that case

in proving that the face value of the checks was the market value because the defendant had actually presented the checks in commerce and received the face value of the checks either in goods or services, unlike the situation in our case. *Id.* at 277. In this case the state presented insufficient evidence because the face value of the check was not the market value of the check because the check had been presented to the “willing buyer” in the market, but the check was rejected and the drawer was not liable on the check. Thus, the state needed to establish value when the facts presented indicated a worthless value.

Similarly in *State v. Burks*, 455 A.2d 1148 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1983), the defendant was convicted of theft by obtaining a \$ 3,000.00 check by deception. *Id.* at 1149. However, the defendant argued that the check was worthless because it was drawn on an account with insufficient funds to pay it. *Id.* The court acknowledged that a check that is drawn on an account with insufficient funds to pay it may not have a market value, but still constitute an appreciable loss to the victim. *Id.* at 1150. The court held that rather than accepting the face value of a check *drawn on insufficient funds* as the value in a theft case, the state must present evidence as to who is still liable on the check, the drawer, and under what circumstances that liability would occur. *Id.* In *Burks*, the defendant did gain some money from the check before the bank discovered the insufficiency, so there was a liability to the drawer in that amount. *Id.* However, in this case, Mr. Greene never obtained any funds from the check and the drawer ultimately stopped payment on the check. Thus, there is no outstanding liability on the check.

Thus, while many jurisdictions apply the same rule as Utah and hold that in theft cases the face value of the check is presumptively the market value, that presumption only operates if there is no proof that the check’s market place value is less than the face value. For instance, in *State v. Wilkes*, 688 P.2d 748 (Kan. Ct. App. 1984)(memorandum decision), the court held the presumption to operate because there was sufficient evidence that the face value was the market place value of the stolen checks because the defendant in that case actually cashed them and received value in the same amount as the face value

of the checks. Id. In State v. Harris, 708 So.2d 387 (La. 1998), the court upheld such a presumption “*in the absence of proof to show a lesser value.*” Id. at 389 (emphasis added). See also State v. Evans, 669 S.W.2d 708 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1984)(the face value of check represents the true value *in the absence of proof to show a lesser value*). Thus, while the general rule is that the face value of a check is the actual value, some cases will not fit under this rule. “[T]he value of a check is usually held to be the amount for which it is drawn, but, *if the check is worth less than the amount, its actual or market value seems to be the determinative factor.*” 50 AM. Jur. 2d Larceny § 50 (1995) (emphasis added). Mr. Greene’s case does not fit under the general rule because the check was shown in trial to be worth less than the face value of the check, thus the state should have presented evidence in order to prove the actual value of the check in the market place in the condition of being dishonored due to insufficient funds.

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