2005

Utah v. William Thomas Greene : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence sufficed to support a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant obtained or exercised control over property of another by deception and that the value of that property was \$1000 or more. In exchange for stolen pipe, defendant received a check having a face value of \$1080. All parties believed, at the time of the exchange, that the check was good, having a market value equivalent to its face value. Defendant's own conduct, in receiving the check for the pipe, evidenced his belief that the check had a value equivalent to its face value. The check maker testified that he did not purposefully make the check against insufficient funds. While the check did not clear when defendant initially presented it, the maker immediately acted to make it good. The maker first offered to exchange the check for a smaller one and the difference in cash. Moreover, the maker almost immediately either cleared up any problem at the bank or deposited funds to cover the check, as defendant himself ascertained later that day that

the check would clear. Based on all of these circumstances, the jury could properly have determined that the value of the check, at the time defendant obtained or exercised control over it by deception, was \$1000 or more.

ARGUMENT

VIEWED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO THE PROSECUTION, THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A JURY FINDING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT DEFENDANT OBTAINED OR EXERCISED CONTROL OVER PROPERTY HAVING A VALUE OF \$1000 OR MORE

Defendant claims “the State failed to establish that the value of the dishonored check was \$1,000.00 or more.” Br. Aplt. at 7 (capitalization and underlining omitted). Defendant claims that he “did not actually obtain property worth *any* value.” *Id.* at 12. Defendant’s claim is inconsistent with Utah law.

A. This Court may affirm, without more, on the basis that defendant has failed to marshal the evidence supporting the verdict.

A defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence “must marshal all of the evidence in support of the [verdict] and then demonstrate that the evidence, including all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, is insufficient to support the [verdict] against attack.” *State v. Larsen*, 2000 UT App 106, ¶ 11, 999 P.2d 1252 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). A “[d]efendant’s failure to marshal the evidence and demonstrate that the [verdict was] clearly erroneous in light of the evidence allows [this Court] to affirm the [verdict] on that basis alone.” *State v. Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶ 61, 28 P.3d 1278.

Defendant has not marshaled the evidence in support of the verdict. He does not marshal or even acknowledge his own testimony that when Cheung learned that the check was dishonored, Cheung offered to immediately substitute a smaller check and the difference in cash. R206:142. More significantly, defendant does not acknowledge or marshal his own testimony that the check, which the bank refused to cash immediately following the offense, would have cleared later that day. R206:136; *see also* R206:146 (“If I had wanted to I could have cashed the check later that day, you know.”). Rather than marshaling all the evidence, defendant marshals only the evidence that supports his claim. On that basis alone, this Court should affirm. *See Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, ¶ 61; *see also State v. Decorso*, 1999 UT 57, ¶ 41, 993 P.2d 837 (rejecting defendant’s challenge on appeal because he had “argued selected portions of the evidence which he believe[d] support[ed] his own position” instead of marshaling the evidence supporting the trier-of-fact’s finding).

B. The value of stolen property is the market value at the time of the offense, a question of fact to be determined by the jury. Where the stolen property is a check, the measure to be employed by the jury in ascertaining the value is the amount the true owner would expect the check to bring and the amount a willing buyer would expect to pay for the check.

The appropriate test for determining the value of stolen property, unless otherwise provided by statute, is “the market-value test.” *State v. Logan*, 563 P.2d 811, 813 (Utah 1977).² The “measure of the value is [the property’s] fair market value at the time and

² *Logan*, decided in 1977, observed that “there [wa]s no existing statute as to the value of stolen property which [wa]s not ultimately destroyed. . . . [and therefore] look[ed] to the common law and existing case law to determine the proper test of value.”

place where the alleged crime was committed.” *Id.* (citation omitted). It is “a measure of what the owner could expect to receive, and the amount a willing buyer would pay to the true owner for the stolen item.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

Applying this test, the Utah Supreme Court has held that the face value of a check “whether endorsed or not, is prima facie evidence of the value that determines the degree and penalty relevant in a theft case.” *State v. Pacheco*, 636 P.2d 489, 490 (Utah 1981) (per curiam). The value “is not limited to what the thief could realize on the instrument.” *Id.* at 491 (quoting *People v. Marques*, 520 P.2d 113 (Colo. 1974)). Thus, a jury may properly find that a stolen check has a market value equivalent to its face value, even though the check may be “worthless” to a defendant because it has not been endorsed. *Id.*

Here, the true owner of the check was Lucency. The evidence sufficed to show that at the time the crime was committed, Cheung, acting for Lucency, could have expected that a willing buyer, the drawee bank, would pay and that defendant would receive \$1080 for it. The face value of the check was \$1080.³ Moreover, Cheung

563 P.2d at 813. The current criminal code also defines the value of “property, if totally destroyed,” but does not address the value of other stolen property. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-101(4).

³ All parties agreed the check was for something more than \$1000. R206:71 (Cheung stating that the check was for “just over a thousand dollars”), 136 (defendant testifying that Lucency’s check was for “just barely a little over eleven hundred bucks”). In his motion to set aside the verdict, defendant alludes to a face value of \$1040. R207:6-7. In its findings of fact on that motion, the court found that the check to be payable in the amount of \$1080. R181. For convenience, the State uses the \$1080 figure when referring to the face value of the check.

believed the account to have sufficient funds to cover the check. R206:74; *see also* R180-85.

Thus, under Utah law, the evidence sufficed to support a jury finding that the check's face value was its fair market value at the time and place of the theft.

C. A check obtained by deception is not worthless merely because it is drawn on an account with insufficient funds to pay it. Evidence that a check has been drawn against an account having insufficient funds does not, of itself, preclude a jury finding that the face value of the check is its market value.

Defendant claims that he “established that the market value of the check was worthless when he presented [the check] . . . and it was dishonored due to insufficient funds.” Br. Aplt. at 9. Again, defendant's claim is inconsistent with Utah law.

The drawer of a check is liable for the amount of the check regardless of whether there are sufficient funds in the account to pay for it. Utah Code Ann. § 70A-3-414. A drawer is liable to a bank or to any other person or entity to whom a check has been negotiated, who takes the instrument for value and in good faith. *See id.*; *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 70A-3-302 (“holder in due course”). “If someone could be liable, the jury is free to find that the amount involved in the theft is the face amount of the instrument.” *State v. Burks*, 455 A.2d 1148, 1151 (N.J. Super. 1983) (reversing conviction because judge, not jury, determined the value of check obtained by deception). Further, as noted by one court, “[i]n the overwhelming majority of ordinary commercial transactions, the drawee bank will pay the face amount of the instrument, or the drawer will make good the instrument.” *State v. Evans*, 669 S.W.2d 708, 711-12 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1984). Thus, the insufficiency of funds to cover a check does not, as a matter of law, foreclose a

jury's finding that the check has a market value equivalent to its face value. *See, e.g., Forrest v. State*, 721 A.2d 1271, 1280 (Del. 1999); *Burks*, 455 A.2d at 1151.

In fact, when addressing the question of how to value a stolen check or a check obtained by deception, “many jurisdictions apparently find the issue of sufficiency of funds irrelevant.” *Forrest*, 721 at 1280 (citations omitted) (holding that the fact that a transfer of funds from the drawer's savings account to his checking account would have been required to cover the check did not make the check worthless); *cf. State v. Harris*, 708 So.2d 387, 390 n.4 (La. 1998) (stating “it seems nonsensical to mete out punishment for the exact same conduct based on a factor totally extraneous to defendant's behavior”); *State v. Long*, 516 N.W.2d 273, 276 (Neb. App. 1994) (stating that “the face amount of a stolen check received in commerce, whether or not endorsed, is sufficient proof of its value, without regard to the sufficiency of funds”).

In any event, even if relevant, the sufficiency of funds in the account at the time a check is stolen or obtained by deception is only one of a number of factors to be considered in valuing the check. The objective of the theft statutes and their classification provisions “is to have the trier of fact make a knowing appraisal of the seriousness of the theft measured by the amount involved at the time of the theft and expressed in terms of the appropriate grading range.” *Burks*, 455 A.2d at 1151. Accordingly, a jury may reasonably consider all factors that bear on the value of the check. For instance, in addition to the face value of the check and the sufficiency of funds to cover the check at the time it was made, the jury may consider whether the check was exchanged for goods of equivalent value, whether the drawer intentionally or

inadvertently made the check against insufficient funds, and whether the drawer was likely to make good on the check.⁴ *See Evans*, 669 S.W.2d at 712; *Simmons v. State*, 109 S.W.3d 469, 478 (Tex. Crim. App. 2003).

D. The evidence sufficed to support a jury finding that defendant obtained or exercised control over property having a value of \$1000 or more.

Here, the evidence was sufficient to support a jury finding that the check had a value of \$1000 or more at the time the offense was committed. The face value of the check was \$1080. *See* Point B, footnote 3, above. All parties understood at the time defendant acquired the check, that its value was \$1080. *See id.* Although it was discovered that funds in the account were at one point insufficient to cover the check, no testimony established that the account actually had insufficient funds when defendant obtained the check.⁵ R206:74; *see* R207:21. In any event, the evidence showed that the

⁴ Defendant's reliance on *State v. Lakey*, 659 P.2d 1061 (Utah 1983), and *State v. Trogstad*, 100 P.2d 564 (Utah 1940), is misplaced. *Lakey* addressed a theft by deception conviction based on a defendant's having given a personal check to a seller of goods with the request that he not cash it on that day so that the defendant would have time to make a deposit. 659 P.2d at 1062. The deposit was not made because the expected income was not received, the check bounced, and the defendant was prosecuted for theft by deception. *Id.* The issue in this case was not the value of the check, but the question of deception. *Id.* The court ruled, "Commercial misfortune is not a crime, and there is no theft by deception without deception." *Id.* at 1064. In *Trogstad*, the court reversed a conviction for uttering a check with an intent to defraud. The court held that the receiver of a check received it not in payment, but "as evidence of a loan," knowing that the account had no funds. Again, the issue was not the value of the check, but a question of whether the defendant had an "intent to defraud." 100 P.2d at 566.

⁵ The trial judge accurately observed that no testimony established that the account actually had insufficient funds when defendant obtained the check. R207:21. As the judge noted, "Maybe some other checks didn't go through until the last—until just a few seconds before [defendant] walked through [the door to present the \$1080 check], we don't know that. That check may have been good at the time it was written." R207:21.

shortfall was both temporary and inadvertent. R206: 136-37. Lucency was and remained liable to cover it. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 70A-3-414. Moreover, the evidence showed not only that Lucency would likely make good on the check, but that Lucency, upon notification of the deficiency, immediately undertook to make good. Defendant himself testified that Lucency immediately moved to make good on the check—first offering to exchange the dishonored check for a smaller check and the difference in cash and then depositing later that same day funds sufficient to cover the dishonored check.

R206:136,142, 146.

Further, defendant's own conduct constituted evidence of the value of the checks. The evidence presented showed that defendant willingly accepted the check in exchange for the stolen pipe. R206:131, 136. "By accepting [Lucency's check]" in exchange for the piping, defendant's "unspoken message was that [the check] had the equivalent value of cash in payment" for the pipes. *Simmons*, 109 S.W.3d at 478.

Thus, even assuming that defendant's evidence that the account contained insufficient funds might rebut a presumption that the market value of the check was the face value, additional evidence rebutted the rebuttal. Based on all the evidence presented, the jury was free to find that the value of the check was \$1080. Viewing the evidence and all inferences that could reasonably have been drawn from it in a light most favorable to the verdict, the evidence was not so "inconclusive or inherently improbable that

reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt” about the check’s having a value of \$1000 or more.⁶ *Shumway*, 2002 UT 124, ¶ 15.

E. A check obtained by deception is not worthless merely because the drawer stops payment.

Defendant also suggests that the check was worthless because “the drawer had issued a stop payment on the check [and] was not obligated to make good the instrument.” Br. Aplt. at 8. Defendant cannot succeed on this claim.

As explained above, the value of property taken for purposes of the theft statutes is the market value *at the time of the offense*. *Logan*, 563 P.2d at 813. The victim’s attempt to mitigate his losses by later stopping payment on the check does not change its value as measured at the time of the offense. *See, e.g., Jeffcoat v. United States*, 551 A.2d 1301, 1303 (D.C. 1988) (per curiam); *Long*, 516 N.W.2d at 276. This makes sense as a matter

⁶ There may, in fact, be some instances where a trier-of-fact could not find that the prosecution had proved beyond a reasonable doubt the requisite element of value based on the face value alone. For instance, “a pickpocket who purloins a personal check written out for 50 million dollars, payable to the order of the Pink Panther, has not committed theft of 50 million dollars because a reasonable trier of fact could not assume that such a check is, in fact, worth its face amount.” *Simmons*, 109 S.W.3d at 476 n.28. Similarly, in a case where an elderly man with poor eyesight and no money in the bank tenders a \$165 check to a “doctor” with a miracle cure *and* where no additional evidence establishes that the check has any market value, the evidence may not show that the check has a market value equivalent to its face value. *See id.* at 476-77.

In the instant case, however, the check was not a clear hoax, as a 50 million dollar check to the Pink Panther would be. More significantly, in this case, there was additional testimony that helped establish that Lucency’s check had a market value equivalent to its face value, including evidence that Lucency was a going concern, evidence of defendant’s established course of business with Lucency, Lucency’s willingness to exchange the check for a smaller check and the difference in cash, and Lucency’s depositing funds sufficient to cover the check within the day.

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